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            Editorial Notes

         

         Russian dates

         Until February 1918 Russia followed the Julian Calendar. At the time of the Bolshevik Revolution, this left the country thirteen days behind Western Europe, the United States of America and most of the rest of the world. This meant that, among other things, Lenin left Zurich on 9 April 1917 (Easter Monday) and arrived in Petrograd a week later on 3 April (which also happened to be Orthodox Easter Monday). Meanwhile, the February Revolution took place in March, and the October Revolution in November. To minimise confusion, and to respect the historicity of the events as experienced at the time, I have used the Julian dates, adding the odd clarificatory note where appropriate.

         Russian transliteration

         There are numerous systems in use when it comes to Russian trans­literation. In an attempt at consistency, I have employed a simplified version of the British Standard system. I have also deferred to accept­ed, and widely used, English spellings (e.g. Alexander Kerensky, rather than Aleksandr).

         Chinese names

         At the time that Edgar Snow was working and writing in China, the Wade–Giles system was commonly used to romanise Mandarin Chinese: Mao Tse-tung; Peking; Pao An. In more recent decades, the Pinyin system – adopted officially by the PRC in 1958 – has predom­inated: Mao Zedong; Beijing; Bao’an. To further complicate matters, xmany place names (including those of provinces) have changed over the years, so that Shensi province (where Mao’s Red Army was based when Snow visited) is now officially known as Shaanxi, while Bao’an is part of present-day Zhidan county. I have endeavoured to use Pinyin romanisation throughout (including amending quotations from orig­inal sources) and modern place names. There are some exceptions, notably Chiang Kai-shek, which is well established in popular usage.
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            Prologue

         

         
            The journey that stirs you now is not far off.

            – HOMER

         

         Epic journeys – whether the heroic quest, the dramatic, against-the-odds escape or the triumphant return – have captivated mankind since the dawn of civilisation. The earliest surviving works of literature – the Epic of Gilgamesh, which was laid down on clay tablets in Mesopotamia some four thousand years ago, and Homer’s Odyssey, written in Greece in the eighth century bc – are, tellingly, journey stories in which human endurance, resourcefulness, friendship and ingenuity are tested almost to destruction.1

         This book uses journeys to tell the story of three defining events of the twentieth century: the creation of the first workers’ state in Russia, in October 1917; the establishment of Communist rule in China, in 1949; and Cuba’s transformation, under Fidel Castro, into a lodestar for a generation of sixties radicals. The six dramatic journeys that lie at the heart of this book proved fundamental not only to how the Russian, Chinese and Cuban revolutions ultimately played out, but also to the ways in which these revolutions came to be popularly understood. Three of the journeys that are told here centre on the leading revolutionary protagonists themselves. First, Lenin’s return to Russia, from exile in Switzerland, at the height of the First World War, aboard the so-called ‘sealed train’. This was a journey that took him through the heart of Kaiser Wilhelm’s Germany, Russia’s most hated enemy and a state that embodied everything – imperialism, rapacious capitalism and aristocratic power – that Lenin detested politically. Arriving triumphantly at Petrograd’s Finland Station on 3 April 1917, Lenin proceeded, as perhaps only he could have done, to seize the political initiative: within months, his Bolshevik Party 2overthrew the Provisional Government of Alexander Kerensky, and set about establishing the world’s first Soviet republic.

         Second, the Long March of 1934–5, the epic military retreat that saw the Chinese Red Army, under the leadership of Mao Zedong, break the chokehold of its Nationalist opponents in the country’s south-east, before finding sanctuary in Shaanxi, in the far north-west. The march, with its fierce battles, almost superhuman feats of endurance and six-thousand-mile trek across eleven of the country’s twenty-eight provinces, would become a foundational myth for the Chinese Communists, and establish Mao’s position as the movement’s foremost leader.

         Third, Fidel Castro’s audacious return to Cuba, from exile in Mexico, in December 1956 aboard the Granma – a creaking, leaking leisure yacht – and subsequent escape into the vast fastness of the Sierra Maestra mountains, from where he launched an ultimately successful campaign of guerrilla warfare against the island’s incumbent dictator, Fulgencio Batista.

         While these three journeys proved to be key turning points in the trajectory of the Russian, Chinese and Cuban revolutions, this book also brings to life the decisive contribution made by three American journalists. Drawn by the exotic appeal of the foreign and unfamiliar, and eager to search out compelling, groundbreaking stories, these three men, at great personal risk, set out on remarkable quests. Their reward: extraordinary scoops that, for better or worse, framed how these revolutions were understood in the wider world.

         John Reed, the poet, bohemian and writer, in the summer of 1917 travelled halfway across the world to investigate, first-hand, the unfolding revolution in Russia. Arriving in Petrograd that autumn, Reed was literally outside the gates when the Winter Palace fell to the Bolsheviks. An enthusiast for the cause, Reed worked for the People’s Commissariat for Foreign Affairs, struck up friendships with Lenin, Trotsky and other leading Bolsheviks, and, at one point, even took up arms to defend the new government from counter-revolutionaries. His 3eyewitness account of the revolution, Ten Days That Shook the World, was published in 1919. Based on official documents, revolutionary newspapers, personal testimony and Reed’s own colourful experiences, it was hailed not only as a classic of reporting but also as an account that, in the perceptive words of one contemporary analyst, would ‘be remembered when all others are forgotten’.

         Then there is Edgar Snow, a former advertising executive from Kansas City, Missouri, who, in the summer of 1936, crossed the front lines in China’s bitter civil war and travelled hundreds of miles on mule and by foot to reach the city of Bao’an in North-West China – provisional capital of the Chinese Soviet Republic. Snow would spend some three months in ‘Red territory’, interviewing Mao and other key leaders, travelling with the Red Army, talking with rank-and-file soldiers and peasants, and all the while noting down his impressions of life under the Communists. Returning to Beijing that autumn, he immediately began work on Red Star Over China. At a time when the wider world – and indeed many millions of Chinese – knew virtually nothing about the Communists, the book’s publication in 1937 was an international sensation, hailed for its gripping style and trail-blazing insights. Snow, declared one reviewer, deserved credit ‘for what is perhaps the greatest single feat performed by a journalist in our century’. Whereas the Nationalist government of Chiang Kai-shek portrayed the Communists as ‘Red bandits’, little more than violent criminals, Snow stressed the idealism and discipline of Mao and his supporters. The Communists’ commitment to land redistribution and social reform, and their insistence that China take the fight to the Japanese (who had invaded, and occupied, Manchuria in 1931), made them a powerful force. Indeed, Snow predicted that ultimately they would prevail.

         Finally, Herbert L. Matthews, the New York Times’s veteran war correspondent who in February 1957 was smuggled by Havana-based supporters of Fidel Castro into the Sierra Maestra for a clandestine meeting with the man who had, just over two months earlier, launched 4an audacious bid to overthrow Batista’s military dictatorship. Arriving at the rebel camp early on the morning of Sunday 17 February, Matthews chatted with Fidel’s younger brother, Raúl, and Ernesto ‘Che’ Guevara over an improvised breakfast of dried crackers, ham and coffee. Then, as dawn broke, Fidel – wearing freshly pressed military fatigues and a khaki cap, and with a rifle slung over his shoulder – strode into the clearing. Over the next three hours, Fidel talked enthusiastically about both his hopes for the new Cuba and the strength of his forces, before signing Matthews’s interview notes and posing for a photograph. Matthews’s scoop, ‘Cuban Rebel Is Visited in Hideout’, hit the front page of the New York Times on Sunday 24 February. Blindsiding the Cuban government, which had been busily reassuring everybody that Castro was, in fact, dead, Matthews’s heroic portrait of Fidel (‘the very picture of idealism and moderation’), and his band of young followers, proved decisive in establishing the popular image of the Cuban firebrand as a Robin Hood of the Antilles and the world’s first beatnik revolutionary.

         These six epic journeys would prove central to the history of the twentieth century. To understand how and why this was the case, though, we must first travel to north-central Switzerland, in the spring of 1917.
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9
            1. Zurich

         

         
            Judging by the scanty information available in Switzerland, the first stage of this first revolution, namely, of the Russian revolution of 1 March 1917, has ended. This first stage of our revolution will certainly not be the last.

            – V. I. LENIN

         

         Lenin first heard the extraordinary news just after lunch on Thursday 15 March 1917.* His wife, Nadezhda Krupskaya, was clearing away the dishes, and the Bolshevik leader was putting on his coat in preparation for the short walk back to Zurich’s Central Library, when a breathless Polish comrade, Mieczysław Broński, appeared at the door of their apartment. ‘Haven’t you heard the news?’ he cried out. ‘There has been a revolution in Russia!’ It seemed barely believable, and Lenin wondered at first whether the rumours were simply the work of German propagandists. Eager to find out the truth, all three hurried down to Bellevueplatz, on the shore of Lake Zurich, where the latest editions of the newspapers were posted up. After reading, and rereading, the reports, the news began to sink in: ‘a revolution’, Krupskaya explained, ‘had really taken place in Russia.’ Lenin, meanwhile, was in a highly agitated state, as though hit by a sudden jolt of electricity. Writing to Inessa Armand – a leading Bolshevik, close friend and former lover – from a nearby café that same afternoon, he explained that ‘Russia must have been on the brink of revolution for days … I am so excited.’1

         
            *

         

         Russia at the dawn of the twentieth century was, in the words of author and historian China Miéville, a ‘great, sluggard, contradictory power’. The vast empire stretched from the Arctic to the Black Sea, and from the Pacific as far west as modern-day Poland. Its population 10of some 130 million was a great patchwork of Slavs, Turks, Georgians, Kyrgyz, Tatars, Armenians and countless other nationalities. While the country’s cities boasted cutting-edge industries, which had been imported from Europe, some 80 per cent of the empire’s population remained tied to the soil in a state of neo-feudalism. And while Russia was home to an exciting literary and artistic avant-garde, most ordinary Russians were unable to read. The empire was characterised by religious diversity: 10 per cent of the Tsar’s subjects were Muslim (and a similar proportion Catholic); there were some five million Jews and almost half a million Buddhists. Yet at the very centre of the empire stood the Russian Orthodox Church – conservative, hidebound and intolerant of dissent.2 And at the apex of it all, wielding (in theory) absolute power, was the Tsar, Nicholas II, the ‘Emperor of All Russia’. Acceding to the throne in 1894, this dutiful, unimaginative and stub­born man was fully committed to the principle of autocracy, and averse to reform of any kind.3 

          Creaking, stiflingly oppressive and rife with discontent, dissent and political intrigue, the entire system was put under enormous strain by Russia’s entry into the Great War. With its military underprepared for the realities of modern warfare, the casualties quickly mounted: the German offensive on the Eastern Front in the spring of 1915 cost Russia more than a million men and a vast amount of territory.4 When Nicholas II took personal command of the army that August, it not only implicated him fully in the further battlefield humiliations that followed, but also left a power vacuum back in the capital, St Petersburg† where the Tsarina Alexandra – wildly unpopular due to the combination of her German background and her reliance on Rasputin, the self-styled ‘Holy Man’‡ – exerted considerable influence.5 Allies of the Tsar urged him, repeatedly, to change course; on 12 January 1917 the British ambassador, Sir George Buchanan, 11even broke with diplomatic protocol to warn the emperor directly that he was headed for the abyss of ‘revolution and disaster’.6 The Tsar remained obdurate. Nicholas’s cousin, Grand Duke Sergei, told Sir George soon afterwards that, had the ambassador been a Russian subject, he would have been banished to Siberia.7 A month later, in an official dispatch to London, Sir George articulated his hopes that Russia would continue with the ‘happy knack of muddling through’, but warned that severe food shortages and labour unrest could ‘at any moment fan the smouldering political discontent into a flame’.8 

         In the event, the real trouble started on 23 February, with a march to commemorate International Women’s Day. Buoyed by thousands of striking female textile workers from the city’s Vyborg district, the demonstration swelled to some fifty thousand. Even more turned out to support the unofficial strikes on 24 February, and the following day – the start of a three-day general strike – two hundred thousand people, including white-collar workers, teachers and students, took to the streets, singing revolutionary songs, carrying red banners and denouncing the ‘corrupt’ and ‘criminal’ government. When, on 26 February, Petrograd’s military commander ordered his troops to fire on any demonstrators who failed to disperse, several young soldiers mutinied and joined the protests. It augured the chaos to come. Although the police stayed largely loyal (they would mow down hundreds of protesters over the coming days), members of the elite Pavlovsky Regiment mutinied that same afternoon. By 27 February a full-scale rebellion was underway, with as many as twenty-five thousand soldiers (more than 10 per cent of the total garrison) joining the revolutionaries, who promptly seized the city’s armouries, attacked police stations, stormed the notorious Kresty Prison (freeing its political prisoners, as well as common criminals) and occupied key buildings.9 General Alfred Knox, the British military attaché in Petrograd, witnessed the revolutionaries taking control of the city’s artillery department. ‘We first saw two soldiers – a sort of advanced guard – who strode along the middle of the street, pointing their rifles at loiterers to clear the road. One of them fired two shots 12at an unfortunate chauffeur.’ Behind them, he continued, was ‘a great disorderly mass of soldiery, stretching right across the wide street and both pavements. They were led by a diminutive but immensely dignified student. There were no officers. All were armed, and many had red flags tied to their bayonets.’10 Those red flags, often little more than rags, or scraps of ribbon, were soon ubiquitous – pinned to hats and lapels, wrapped around rifles and bayonets, and hung on the public buildings that were being stripped of their hated Tsarist insignia.11

         As Bolsheviks in working-class Vyborg fantasised about seizing power and establishing a revolutionary government, the real action moved to the Tauride Palace, home of the Duma, the Russian parliament, which Nicholas II had just prorogued. After much anguished discussion, some of its members formed the ‘Provisional Committee of the State Duma for the restoration of order in the capital and the establishment of relations with public organisations and institutions’. At the same time, workers, socialists and revolutionaries who had begun to flood into the vast palace founded the Petrograd Soviet of Workers’ and Soldiers’ Deputies, electing an executive committee and setting to work on restoring essential services, creating a militia to keep the city safe, and solving – or at least easing – the food crisis.12 With each hour that passed, Tsarist authority was visibly draining away: some ministers who had hidden in cupboards when the shooting had begun now gave themselves up, ashen-faced and broken; the seizure of key railway stations by the revolutionaries prevented Nicholas II from returning to his capital; and the units guarding the royal palace at Tsarskoye Selo abandoned their posts – and the imperial family. On 2 March, with the situation clearly irretrievable, the Tsar abdicated in favour of his brother.13

         When, the following day, Grand Duke Michael – realising that he lacked the necessary political support – refused the throne, control over one of the world’s largest empires now passed, at least in theory, to a new Provisional Government. Headed by the nobleman and statesman Prince Lvov, it was, from the start, forced to share power with the increasingly influential Petrograd Soviet.13

         The events of February had unfolded at a dizzying speed, unleashing a wave of jubilation on the streets of Petrograd. The French essayist and longtime resident of the city Amélie de Néry captured the mood brilliantly. ‘You had to have lived here, you had to have seen the constraint impinging on all public life,’ she explained, ‘the strict supervision by the police, their lack of goodwill, the spying, the informing … in order to understand the joy which radiates in everyone’s expression now.’ ‘At last,’ she continued, ‘this great people can breathe, they have cast off their chains,’ and everyone, it seemed, was now smiling.14 It was a similar tale in Moscow, where the British diplomat and spy R. H. Bruce Lockhart described a great throng of students and soldiers flooding into the city hall – ‘the soldiers hot, greasy and officious; the students raucous and exultant’. He was also greatly moved by the sight of ‘grey-bearded men, bent with years – men who had suffered exile, who had lived in mouse-holes, and who, with trembling knees and a strange light in their eyes, were now rejoicing over their hour of triumph’.15

         After three hundred years, the seemingly all-powerful autocracy had collapsed in little more than a week. But while Russia succumbed to revolution, the country’s most famous revolutionary was a thousand miles away, in exile in Switzerland.

         
            *

         

         Born Vladimir Ilyich Ulyanov on 10 April 1870 in Simbirsk, a city on the banks of the Volga, the boy who would become Lenin§ enjoyed something of a charmed childhood. His father, Ilya, was a gifted bureaucrat who served as the regional inspector of schools; his mother, Maria, was the daughter of a wealthy doctor, landowner and nobleman; and the young Vladimir summered at the family’s country estate at Kokushkino. Embracing (initially at least) the deep Orthodox faith of his mother, Vladimir was also a gifted student, with a fondness for 14classics and literature. Although he rebelled, becoming an atheist at the age of sixteen, there were no obvious signs that the young Vladimir was on the path to becoming one of the twentieth century’s most notorious revolutionaries. This would change in the spring of 1887, however, when his beloved elder brother Alexander – who had fallen in with a group of extremists while studying science at St Petersburg University – was hanged for his involvement in a plot to assassinate the Tsar. (He had used his scientific expertise to prepare the bombs.)16 

         Enrolling that same year at Kazan University to study law, Vladimir was drawn to a group of clandestine radicals, inspired by the People’s Will (a late-nineteenth-century organisation that advocated assassinations to overthrow the autocracy, and which had succeeded in killing Alexander II in 1881). In December 1887, during student demonstrations, Vladimir was among more than thirty members who were rounded up and expelled from the university. For the next three years, he retired to the family estate, and immersed himself in radical literature.17

         According to the historian Orlando Figes, by far the biggest influence on Lenin was the novelist and socialist philosopher Nikolay Chernyshevsky. Figes argues that it was through reading him, not Marx, that Lenin became a revolutionary, injecting ‘a distinctly Russian dose of conspiratorial politics into a Marxist dialectic that would otherwise have remained passive – content to wait for the revolution to mature through the development of objective conditions rather than eager to bring it about through political action’. It was, Figes declares, ‘not Marxism that made Lenin a revolutionary, but Lenin who made Marxism revolutionary’.18

         Moving to St Petersburg in the autumn of 1893, Lenin was initial­ly rebuffed by the city’s Marxists, many of whom dismissed him as a brusque and unsophisticated provincial. Soon, though, his dedication, fearsome intellect and natural leadership abilities were winning him ad­mirers. Two years later, Lenin – along with fellow Marxist Yuli Martov – was among the leaders of a short-lived effort to organise the city’s work­ers; arrested in December, and imprisoned, he was subsequently exiled 15to Siberia for three years. Allowed to live relatively comfortably, he was sustained by his books, a hunting rifle (though he was a notoriously bad shot) and his new wife and fellow revolutionary, Nadezhda Krupskaya, whom he had met shortly after arriving in St Petersburg.19

         It was during this period that Lenin, appalled by the trend among some Marxists to advocate for a peaceful, electoral and reformist path to socialism, counter-attacked, denouncing those who would, as he put it, ‘convert Social Democracy into a democratic party of reform’ and ‘introduce bourgeois ideas and bourgeois elements into socialism’. Fired by his own commitment to revolutionary socialism, on his release from exile Lenin, together with Martov, established a newspaper, Iskra (‘The Spark’). Its aim: to transform the newly founded Russian Social Democratic Labour Party (RSDLP) into a centralised party capable of leading the country’s workers’ movement. (Iskra quickly became Russia’s leading underground newspaper.20) Then, in 1903, at its Second Congress, the RSDLP voted, by a slender majority, in favour of Lenin’s insistence that party membership be conditional on ‘personal participation in one of the Party’s organisations’. Martov, believing that this position was too authoritarian, had offered an amendment that initially won the day. But after several delegates walked out, following acrimonious votes on other matters, the balance of power swung back towards Lenin’s faction. Following a second vote, Lenin prevailed; he immediately labelled his followers the ‘Bolsheviks’ (or the ‘majority’ faction) and those of Martov ‘Mensheviks’ (the ‘minority’). It was a split that would define the coming political struggle, and hand the Bolsheviks a distinct psychological advantage.21 Quite why the Mensheviks accepted their name remains something of a puzzle, but Lenin embraced the label ‘Bolshevik’ – as one of his comrades remarked, ‘a name he knew was a programme, a distilled essence, more powerful in its impact upon the untutored mind than dozens of articles in learned journals’.22

         Lenin would spend much of the next decade attempting to build up the Bolsheviks, and agitate for revolution, mostly from self-imposed 16exile in Europe.23 During the revolution of 1905, safely ensconced in Geneva, Lenin called consistently (and recklessly) for the ‘arming of the people’, insisting that ‘those who do not prepare for armed uprising must be ruthlessly cast out of the ranks of supporters of the Revolution.’ At a time when there were barely a couple of hundred Bolsheviks in the Russian capital (half of them students), and virtually no chance at all that an armed uprising would succeed, Lenin was insistent. Victory, he argued, was beside the point: ‘What do we care about victory? We should not harbour any illusions. We are realists … the point is not about winning, but about giving the regime a shake and attracting the masses to our movement. The uprising is what matters.’24 In the end, what Lenin later termed the ‘dress rehearsal’ for the revolution of October 1917 was resolved when the Tsar, under enormous pressure, agreed to limited (and, as it turned out, short-lived) political reforms: the creation of a parliament, or Duma (with modest powers); the establishment of cabinet government; a partial extension of the franchise; and the granting of ‘inviolable personal rights’ to the population, including freedom of speech, conscience and assembly.25 Lenin felt sufficiently emboldened to return to Russia in November 1905, but the level of police surveillance made political work all but impossible. As the Tsarist regime, now feeling more secure, began to crack down hard on unrest, Lenin was forced first underground, then to the relative safety of Finland (then an autonomous part of the Russian Empire), and eventually back to Switzerland.26

         Lenin would continue to take what his opponents viewed as radical, uncompromising positions – notoriously, for instance, condoning the use of theft (or, as Lenin had it, ‘expropriations’) to help fund the party. Creating what was, in effect, a criminal operation – headed by Leonid Krasin and Joseph Stalin – the Bolsheviks used hired gangs to rob banks and attack post offices, railway stations and other targets. When Martov and his fellow Mensheviks recoiled from this criminal activity, insisting that they did not want to be ‘regarded as thieves’, Lenin was contemptuous, saying: ‘You don’t make revolution with kid gloves.’27 17

         In the decade leading up to 1917, ‘the Old Man’ (as his close associates called him) lived an increasingly peripatetic lifestyle, basing himself in Geneva, Paris, London, Kraków and numerous other towns across Europe, as he sought to hone his arguments and advance the revolutionary cause. He was in Poronin, a little village at the foot of the Tatra Mountains, in Habsburg-ruled Galicia in modern-day Poland, when the Great War broke out. Its remote tranquillity had proved conducive to writing; its closeness to the Russian border allowed for a steady stream of visitors; and the clean air, magnificent scenery and opportunities for swimming and hiking had been fortifying. All this came to a sudden end with the guns of August 1914. Arrested and briefly imprisoned on suspicion of being a spy, Lenin – together with his wife – headed first to Bern, and then, in February 1916, Zurich.28

         Lenin was a fan of Switzerland. He loved its lakes and mountains, and Zurich, which boasted a large émigré population, also had the added attraction of a newly opened public library. He spent as much time as he could there, seated at his favourite desk, surrounded by books, undertaking exhaustive research for a lengthy new essay. (Imperialism: The Highest Stage of Capitalism would eventually be published in mid-1917.)29 Contemptuous of the world war – nothing more than ‘a struggle for markets and for the freedom to loot foreign countries’ – Lenin attacked Europe’s leaders for seeking to ‘deceive, disunite and slaughter the proletarians of all countries’. But he was particularly appalled by the reaction of Europe’s social democrats, who had abandoned their collective opposition to war and cast aside the language of fraternity and peace in favour of patriotism and nationalism. When he learned that Germany’s SPD (Social Democratic Party) had voted to grant war credits to the Kaiser’s government, Lenin is supposed to have remarked: ‘I am no longer a Social-Democrat; I am a Communist.’30

         As the war itself began to drag on – and as its appalling costs in blood and treasure became increasingly evident – opposition to the conflict began to reassert itself on the Left. Lenin, though, was adamant: ‘The propaganda of peace unaccompanied by revolutionary mass action’, he 18declared in the spring of 1915, ‘can only sow illusions and demoralise the proletariat, for it makes the proletariat believe that the bourgeoisie is humane.’ ‘In particular,’ Lenin argued, ‘the idea of a so-called democratic peace being possible without a series of revolutions is profoundly erroneous.’31 It was a line that he continued to hold – most notably at the so-called Zimmerwald Conference, held on the outskirts of Bern in September 1915. Organised by Robert Grimm, a leading Swiss socialist, the meeting brought together thirty-eight delegates from across Europe, with the aim of relaunching the Socialist International on an anti-war platform.32 At the four-day conference, a manifesto – reaffirming the ‘international solidarity of the proletariat and of the class struggle’, demanding a ‘peace without annexations or war indemnities’, and calling on ‘Socialists of the belligerent countries’ to take up the ‘struggle against bloody barbarism with every effective means’ – was adopted unanimously.33 But Lenin also used the meeting to advocate for his wider goal: the destruction of the entire structure of imperialism. It was, he insisted, the ‘duty of socialists’ to ‘develop the workers’ revolutionary consciousness, rally them in the international revolutionary struggle, promote and encourage any revolutionary action, and do everything possible to turn the imperialist war between the peoples into a civil war of the oppressed classes against their oppressors’. The ultimate goal, he explained, was for the proletariat to seize political power and realise socialism.34 This was the essence of Lenin’s controversial doctrine of ‘revolutionary defeatism’: an extreme socialist position based on the idea that the working class would not benefit from a victory in a ‘capitalist’, ‘imperialist’ war. Instead, Lenin argued, the proletariat would gain from their nation’s defeat if the war could be transformed into a civil war and then an international revolution.

         In making his case, Lenin could count on the support of just a handful of other delegates – among them Germany’s Fritz Platten, Grigory Zinoviev and Karl Radek. (Born in what is now Lviv, in Ukraine, Radek had been active in both the Polish and German socialist movements before the war.) But, according to the historian 19Catherine Merridale, the Zimmerwald Conference had transformed Lenin into an international figure and the inspiration for a distinct, and growing, movement of radical European socialists, which would become known as the Zimmerwald Left.35

         Although Lenin was securing greater prestige on the international stage, his influence in his homeland appeared to be on the wane. Under near-constant attack from the Tsarist secret police (the Okhrana), the Bolshevik Party itself appeared to be unravelling. Nadezhda Krupskaya’s list of key organisers, for instance, had dwindled to just ten by 1917. The party’s newspaper, Pravda – a key source of income as well as a critically important tool of propaganda – had been suppressed and many of the party’s leading figures, including Lev Kamenev, had been rounded up and either imprisoned or sent into exile.36 As for ‘revolutionary defeatism’, Lenin’s message was, it seems, falling on stony ground. When, in December 1916, the French ambassador to Russia had asked one of his best informants whether Lenin’s controversial idea was making any headway among the army, the response was brutal. ‘No,’ he was told: ‘the only advocates of that doctrine here are a few lunatics who are supposed to be in the pay of Germany – or the Okhrana.’ Even within Lenin’s own party, it seemed, the defeatists were in a minority.37

         Cut off from his homeland, and reliant on second-hand reports in the foreign-language press, Lenin now faced the very real prospect of watching from the sidelines as history marched on without him.

         
            *

         

         According to Nadezhda Krupskaya, as soon as he learned of the success of the February Revolution, Lenin’s mind went into overdrive.38 Within days he was issuing instructions to his Bolshevik comrades:

         
            Our tactics: no trust in and no support of the new government; Kerensky is especially suspect; arming of the proletariat is the only guarantee; immediate elections to the Petrograd City Council; no rapprochement with other parties.39 20

         

         In an article written for the newly revived Pravda, which was published on 7 March,¶ Lenin declared that ‘the first revolution engendered by the imperialist world war has broken out. The first revolution but certainly not the last.’ He was openly contemptuous of the newly formed Provisional Government and its bourgeois ministers, dismissing the social democrat Alexander Kerensky, one of the revolution’s leading lights, as a ‘balalaika on which they play to deceive the workers and peasants’. Identifying the Petrograd Soviet as ‘the embryo of a workers’ government, the representative of the interests of the entire mass of the poor section of the population’, Lenin argued that ‘the only guarantee of freedom and of the complete destruction of tsarism lies in arming the proletariat, in strengthening, extending and developing the role, significance and power of the Soviet of Workers’ Deputies.’40 In private, Lenin went further, arguing that the proletariat would first need to ‘smash’ the ‘“ready-made” state machine’ before merging the police, army and bureaucracy ‘with the entire armed people’. The proletariat, Lenin explained, must ‘take the organs of state power directly into their own hands, in order that they themselves should constitute these organs of state power’.41

         These hard-line positions seemed extreme to many – including a good number of his own comrades – and certainly out of touch with the heady, optimistic mood on the streets of Petrograd, where the new government was busily enacting a series of liberal reforms that would have been unimaginable just weeks before.42 What Lenin yearned for, more than anything else, was to be able to influence events directly. From the ‘moment the news of the February Revolution was received’, recalled Krupskaya, ‘Ilyich was all eagerness to go back to Russia’.43

         
            * Thursday 2 March in Russia.

            † On 1 September 1914 the city was renamed Petrograd (‘Peter’s City’), in order to remove the German words ‘Sankt’ and ‘Burg’.,

            ‡ Rasputin was finally dispatched by court conspirators in December 1916.

            § Ulyanov adopted this alias in 1901, and the name was possibly based on the River Lena, in Siberia. He sometimes used the fuller pseudonym ‘N. Lenin’ (leading many, wrongly, to describe him as ‘Nikolai Lenin’).

            ¶ 20 March in Switzerland.
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            2. Caged Lion

         

         
            You can imagine what torture it is for all of us to be stuck here at a time like this. We have to go by some means, even if it is through Hell.

            – V. I. LENIN

         

         Lenin’s old friend Grigory Zinoviev was in the Swiss capital, Bern, when news of the February Revolution broke. Like his fellow revolutionaries, he was elated by the news: ‘The ice has broken,’ he wrote, and ‘what whole generations of Russian revolutionaries had dreamed of, had finally become a fact.’ As he hurried home, still holding the news-sheet proclaiming the news, he discovered a telegram from Lenin already waiting for him. He was, he learned, to leave for Zurich ‘immediately’.1

         Born Hirsch Apfelbaum on 11 September 1883, on a dairy farm in what is now central Ukraine, Zinoviev joined the RSDLP in 1901 and sided with Lenin’s faction when the party split. He was on the streets of St Petersburg, agitating among the workers, during the revolution of 1905, and became a member of the Bolshevik Central Committee two years later. In the decade or so that followed, Zinoviev – who lived in exile in France, Austria and then Switzerland – became Lenin’s right-hand man. (When the Mensheviks described him as the Old Man’s ‘arms bearer’, it was not meant as a compliment.) Described by one historian as ‘stocky, clean-shaven, short-winded’ and with a ‘high-pitched voice’, Zinoviev – a compelling and inspirational orator – was ‘a supreme sycophant, famously cynical, who did a lot of Lenin’s dirty work for him’. According to his fellow Bolshevik Angelika Balabanova (who later broke with the party), Zinoviev was ‘simply the most despicable human being I ever met. Whenever there was an unfair factional manoeuvre to be made or a revolutionary reputation to be undermined,’ she explained, ‘Lenin would charge Zinoviev with the task.’2

         22As the two men walked the streets of Zurich that spring, one thought dominated all else: the urgent need to get back to Russia. Lenin, Zinoviev explained, was becoming increasingly frustrated, ‘drawn to work, to fight, but in the Swiss “hole”, there was nothing to do but sit around in the libraries. I remember with what “envy” … we looked at the Swiss Social Democrats, who in one way or another lived among their workers and were absorbed in the workers’ movement of their country.’ Lenin and his comrades, though, were ‘cut off from Russia, as never before. We longed for Russian language, for Russian air. At that time, Vladimir Ilyich reminded us of a lion locked in a cage.’3

         The problem, of course, was that Lenin’s route home was blocked. The Allied powers, desperate to keep Russia in the war, were hardly going to provide safe passage to Europe’s leading advocate of ‘revolutionary defeatism’. Meanwhile, as a citizen of a hostile power, travel through Germany or Austria–Hungary was illegal.4 In desperation, Lenin and his comrades conjured up a series of increasingly preposterous plans. Repeatedly Lenin sought to procure a false passport, so that he could travel in disguise (‘I can wear a wig,’ he explained), via France, England, the Netherlands, and then on to neutral Scandinavia. Then he toyed with the idea of returning to Russia by plane. But, as Zinoviev pointed out, they only lacked a few things: ‘an aeroplane, the necessary means, the consent of the authorities, etc.’ A false Swedish passport was easy to get hold of, but since Lenin neither spoke nor understood a word of the language, using the document presented a challenge. It was in seeming desperation, then, that he concocted a scheme to return to Russia using the passport of a deaf and mute Swede – and even went so far as to ask his comrade Yakov Ganetsky (Jakub Fürstenberg), then living in Stockholm, to ‘find a Swede who looked like me’. It was left to Lenin’s wife to point out the flaw: ‘“Imagine yourself falling asleep and dreaming of Mensheviks, which will start you off swearing juicily in Russian! Where will your disguise be then?” I said with a laugh.’5

         For Lenin, however, being stuck in Switzerland while revolution played out in his homeland was no laughing matter. As he told 23Ganetsky, ‘You can imagine what torture it is for all of us to be stuck here at a time like this. We have to go by some means, even if it is through Hell.’6

         Gradually, the comrades began to realise that they had no other choice. The only viable route home lay through Kaiser Wilhelm II’s German Empire – Russia’s deadly and most hated foe.

         
            *

         

         In the long, cruel months that had followed the outbreak of war in August 1914, German troops had killed or maimed hundreds of thousands of Russians, taken many more prisoner, and occupied vast tracts of Russian territory. Lenin himself had nothing but contempt for the imperialists, monarchists and bourgeois capitalists who, with the craven support of Germany’s SPD, had sacrificed millions of their fellow citizens in order to ‘enrich a few, open the road to Baghdad, [and] conquer the Balkans’.7 To travel through Imperial Germany without permission risked almost certain arrest and imprisonment (not least because, as Karl Radek explained, the business of distinguishing between genuine traffickers and German spies proved impossible).8 And yet to do a deal with the Kaiser’s government smacked of treachery. The Austrian writer Stefan Zweig, who was in Zurich during the spring of 1917, later wrote that ‘it is high treason, of course, to set foot on enemy land and cross it in the middle of a war and with the approval of the enemy general staff.’ Lenin, moreover, would have been all too aware that, by enabling his opponents to level the charge that he was a paid agent of the German government, he risked compromising the Bolsheviks, and their cause – perhaps fatally.9

         It is not clear who first suggested to Lenin the notion of returning to Russia via Germany. Writing several years later, Radek claimed that he had asked a journalist working for the Frankfurter Zeitung to sound out Gisbert von Romberg, the German ambassador in Bern, about whether Germany might allow Russian émigrés to travel through its territory.10 In doing this, Radek may well have been influenced by his knowledge that Russians working in Copenhagen had recently 24received transit visas from Berlin.11 At around the same time, though, Lenin’s great rival Yuli Martov – addressing a meeting of Russian and Polish émigrés in the Swiss capital – floated the idea that the Provisional Government in Petrograd might release some German and Austrian civil internees in return for Germany allowing safe transit for the exiles. Zinoviev, who was at the meeting, reported back to Lenin, who deemed the idea ‘excellent – we ought to get busy with it’.12 As soon became clear, negotiations with the Provisional Government would likely be a long, drawn-out affair. (The hawkish foreign minister, Pavel Milyukov, was far from keen to assist anti-war ‘defeatists’.) Lenin, who was kept awake at night by the fear that events in Russia might leave him behind, now moved to cut his own deal.

         The complex, fraught and clandestine negotiations that unfolded in the early spring of 1917 involved a cast of individuals who were, by turns, unsavoury, disreputable and politically suspect. Lenin, understandably, insisted on leaving the heavy lifting to intermediaries.13 Robert Grimm, the Swiss socialist leader, journalist and organiser of the Zimmerwald Conference, might have been, in Lenin’s words, a ‘detestable centrist’, but he had useful contacts within the Swiss government, and so was recruited to try to broker a deal with Romberg.14 At the same time, through his old ally Yakov Ganetsky, Lenin made contact with Alexander Helphand (who used the pseudonym ‘Parvus’). Seventeen years earlier, Parvus had been a brilliant young Marxist who had helped churn out the early issues of Iskra from a printing press hidden in his Munich home. Now, though, he cut a very different figure: enormously fat, he had made a fortune in Constantinople (allegedly via dubious deals in wheat and arms) and then, with the outbreak of war, had offered his services to the German government, becoming a millionaire as an arms dealer, propagandist and exploiter of the black market in medicines, drugs, rubber and other goods. The once idealistic revolutionary had transformed, in middle age, into a caricature of a tycoon, with a penchant for luxury cars, champagne, cigars and glamorous young blondes. But, by convincing the German leadership 25that assisting Lenin and his comrades was in their interests, he changed the course of the twentieth century.15

         By early 1917, the German government was under intense pressure. With the Royal Navy’s economic blockade causing desperate hardship at home, the military command sought to use its formidable U-boat fleet to break the stranglehold and take the fight to the British. But, as the Germans well knew, the resumption of unrestricted submarine warfare was all but certain to bring the United States into the conflict. There would, however, be a crucial window, while the Americans were mobilising, in which Germany might win a decisive victory on the Western Front. That meant knocking out the Russians first – and, while advances on the battlefield had been encouraging, the collapse of the Tsarist regime offered the tantalising possibility that a separate peace might be made.16 In a series of meetings with Ulrich von Brockdorff-Rantzau, the German minister in Copenhagen, Parvus (whose front company was based in the city) insisted that supporting the ‘extremist’ elements made sense. With Lenin back in Russia, he argued, the country would become destabilised, and those advocating for a separate peace would quickly gain the advantage.17 Brockdorff-Rantzau agreed. In a cable sent to the foreign ministry on 2 April, the minister stated that it was ‘essential that we now try to create the greatest possible degree of chaos in Russia’, and ‘deepen the differences between the moderate and extremist parties, for it is greatly in our interests that the latter should gain the upper hand’. In just three months, he predicted, the ‘disintegration’ should have reached the stage ‘where we could break the power of the Russians by military action’.18 As it turned out, he was knocking on an open door. The new foreign minister, Arthur Zimmermann – a covert-operations fan – readily agreed and immediately asked the German High Command whether they had any objections to allowing the ‘transit of the revolutionaries’ across German territory.

         They did not.19

         The first attempt by the Germans to secure Lenin’s return to Russia ended in failure. Georg Sklarz, a business partner of Parvus, 26rocked up in Zurich offering to escort Lenin and Zinoviev through Germany and to pay their fare. The plan was dismissed out of hand: taking German money directly was simply far too incriminating.20 Meanwhile, the negotiations that Grimm was undertaking with Romberg appeared to be going nowhere. On 3 April the German-Swiss socialist Willi Münzenberg attended a meeting at a Zurich restaurant, where he witnessed Lenin – ‘excited and furious’ – pacing up and down, venting his frustration to Zinoviev, Krupskaya and a handful of other comrades. Grimm, he claimed, had been deliberately blocking the return of the Bolshevik émigrés to Russia, and simply could not be trusted. It was eventually decided to appoint Fritz Platten, the secretary of the Swiss Socialist Party (and one of the few delegates to support Lenin at the Zimmerwald Conference two years earlier), to act as the go-between.21 Platten, who visited Romberg at the embassy in Bern the following day, pressed for quick action. Romberg was persuaded and made an urgent recommendation to his superiors that permission for the journey be granted. He also encouraged his government to accept the various conditions that the exiles had drawn up.22 As well as the famous clause that the carriage bearing the revolutionaries be granted ‘extraterritorial rights’ (a legal ruse which meant that – theoretically at least – the passengers would never enter German territory), the Bolshevik group also insisted that all communications with German organisations and officials would be undertaken, exclusively, by Platten. Permission to travel, moreover, would not be dependent on political beliefs or opinion and, to the extent that it was practicable, it was requested that the journey should be made without stops, and in a through train. In exchange, the exiles undertook to agitate for the release of a corresponding number of German and Austrian prisoners upon their return to Russia.23

         On 5 April, word came back from Berlin: the deal was on.24

         
            *

         

         Lenin’s secret agreement with the Germans did not remain secret for very long. Ernst Nobs, editor of Zurich’s Volksrecht newspaper, had the 27scoop, and soon the story was the only topic of conversation among Zurich’s writers, artists and journalists. At the Plauen Café, regular haunt of left-wing intellectuals, the news caused pandemonium. The leftist journalist J. Ley recalled how his fellow journalists and writers inveighed against the ‘treachery’ of working with the German imperialists, and roundly denounced Lenin. James Joyce quipped that Erich Ludendorff, first quartermaster general of the German High Command, ‘must be pretty desperate’. Indeed, the idea of Ludendorff and Lenin – reactionary militarist and socialist revolutionary – working together, hand in glove, struck Joyce as absurd, an outlandish practical joke. But most of the writers, artists and radicals that Ley encountered did not see the funny side. Lenin’s actions, they believed, would only strengthen Germany’s military, prolong the terrible war and make a victory for the Kaiser more likely.25

         Lenin was unrepentant. The night before his departure he addressed a meeting of Russian émigrés, workers and foreign correspondents, who had packed into a shabby, dimly lit hall, in the centre of Bern. The Bolshevik leader, pacing back and forth on the platform, gripping his lapels, had a defiant message. ‘We have before us’, he said, ‘a struggle of exceptional gravity and harshness. Let us go into that battle fully conscious of the responsibility we are taking. We know what we want to do. The law of history imposes our leadership, because it is through us that the proletariat speaks.’ The Spanish socialist and journalist Julio Álvarez del Vayo, who was in the audience that night, later wrote that he had ‘never seen anybody more certain of winning a battle’.26

         Early on the morning of 9 April – Easter Monday – Lenin, Krupskaya, Zinoviev, Radek and a number of other comrades (including Olga Ravich, Inessa Armand and Grigory Sokolnikov) gathered at the Volkshaus in Bern before catching the train back to Zurich.27 After stopping off at their apartment to collect some belongings (a basket of clothes, two containing books and old newspapers, two boxes of party documents, and a portable kerosene stove for making tea), Lenin and Krupskaya repaired to the Zähringerhof hotel, on the square next to 28the city’s railway station, for a farewell banquet.28 At the end of lunch, Lenin stood up and, on behalf of the group, read aloud a ‘farewell letter to the Swiss workers’, conveying their ‘fraternal greetings and expression of our profound comradely gratitude for your comradely treatment of the political émigrés’. Turning his attention to events in Russia, Lenin declared that ‘to the Russian proletariat has fallen the great honour of beginning the series of revolutions which the imperialist war has made an objective inevitability.’ The Old Man acknowledged that, ‘single-handed, the Russian proletariat cannot bring the socialist revolution to a victorious conclusion.’ ‘But,’ he continued, ‘it can give the Russian revolution a mighty sweep that would create the most favourable conditions for a socialist revolution, and would, in a sense, start it. It can facilitate the rise of a situation in which its chief, its most trustworthy and most reliable collaborator, the European and American socialist proletariat, could join the decisive battles.’ He signed off with the cry, ‘Long live the proletarian revolution that is beginning in Europe!’29

         At 2.30 p.m. – having put their signatures to a document in which they assumed responsibility for the journey and acknowledged that the Provisional Government had recently threatened ‘to bring the Russian émigrés returning through Germany to trial for high treason’ – they set off for the Hauptbahnhof.30

         The Germans had agreed to transport a maximum of sixty émigrés but, in the end, just thirty-two (nineteen of whom were members of the Bolshevik Party) decided to risk it. The little band made for an incongruous sight: ‘men and women and children in threadbare clothes, the men in black hats, the women in long skirts, ankle boots, their heads under varying types of covering ranging from scarves to Olga Ravich’s big, broad-brimmed “chapeau”’, carrying cushions, blankets and a handful of belongings.31 Fritz Platten might have been smiling, but most members of the group approached the waiting train as if they were being forced to walk the plank.32

         A crowd of about a hundred had turned out for the occasion. Some of those present were merely curious, while others had come to 29offer encouragement. Most, though, were hostile. Cries of ‘Traitors!’, ‘Provocateurs!’ and ‘Spies!’ rang out; others shouted taunts – ‘The Kaiser is paying you for the journey!’, ‘They’re going to hang you … like German Spies!’ – or beat on the side of the carriage with sticks, jeering and hissing.33 David Ryazanov, a friend of Leon Trotsky (who had been interned in Nova Scotia by the British while attempting to return to Russia), ran up to the train in a state of high agitation and pleaded desperately with Zinoviev: ‘Vladimir Ilyich has let himself be carried away and has forgotten the dangers … Please understand that this is madness. Convince Vladimir Ilyich that he must abandon the plan to travel through Germany!’34 Amid the chaos, the odd scuffle broke out – at one point Lenin seized the German socialist Oscar Blum by the collar and, mistaking him for a spy, threw him off the carriage and onto the track.35

         Then, on the dot of 3.10 p.m., the train began to slowly inch its way out of the station. As it did so, a group of loyal Swiss socialists belted out the ‘Internationale’. For the next couple of hours, the comrades relaxed as the train made its way through the valleys and hills north of Zurich. Then, after passing Neuhausen am Rheinfall – site of Europe’s largest waterfall – they came to the border town of Schaffhausen, where the émigrés were promptly ushered off the train by Swiss customs officials. The revolutionaries could only watch, with dismay, as their luggage was searched and most of the provisions that they had carefully gathered for the long journey ahead, including cheese, sausages and chocolate, were confiscated. (The Swiss, it turned out, had strict rules about exporting food during wartime, and only a few bread rolls survived the cull.) Then, just down the line at Thayngen – and over the furious protests of Platten – a second posse of customs officials insisted on yet another examination.36 Finally, the train reached Gottmadingen, in the German federal state of Baden-Württemberg, and the promise of the ‘sealed train’ to Sweden. As they pulled up at the station’s only platform that evening, the émigrés were greeted by the sight of two German officers, in their grey uniforms 30and high black boots. Stiff and unsmiling, they ordered the passengers off the train and into a bare and deserted waiting room, where they were divided – the men on one side, and the women and children on the other. In the threatening silence that followed, most of the party – by now extremely jittery – began to wonder how they had been so naïve as to fall into a German trap. Anticipating disaster, they steeled themselves for imminent arrest.37
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            3. The Sealed Train

         

         
            It was with a sense of awe that [the Germans] turned upon Russia the most grisly of all weapons. They transported Lenin in a sealed truck like a plague bacillus from Switzerland into Russia.

            – WINSTON CHURCHILL

         

         The two German officers, Captain Arwed Edler von der Planitz and Lieutenant Ulrich von Bühring, had been selected specifically for the job. Von Bühring, the younger of the two men, could speak fluent Russian (although he was under strict orders to conceal this fact). Von der Planitz – a lawyer who, after serving with an elite unit on the Western Front, had been transferred to the domestic counter-intelligence branch of the German General Staff – was described as ‘politically tactful’. Just days earlier, both men had received a top-secret briefing, in person, from General Ludendorff. To the émigrés’ enormous relief, it soon became clear that Berlin had every intention of keeping to its side of the bargain – the uncomfortable delay in the third-class waiting room was merely to enable the Germans to make a final check of the numbers travelling (and, perhaps, to make it clear to everyone exactly who was in charge). After completing the formalities, and collecting the fares that Lenin had insisted the group pay themselves, von der Planitz ushered them towards the waiting train.132

         
            [image: ]

         

         The famous ‘sealed train’ consisted of a specially commandeered military locomotive, a single green carriage that had been divided into eight compartments – three of them second class and five of them third – with a toilet at each end, and a baggage wagon. At the comrades’ insistence, Lenin and Krupskaya were given the second-class compartment at the front of the train, so that the Old Man could work in peace. (He put up only a token protest.) The other two were assigned to women and families, while the single men had to forgo the relative luxury of brown padded upholstery for the hard 33wooden benches of third class. The two German officers occupied the compartment at the rear of the carriage. A chalk line, drawn on the floor by Platten, marked the border with ‘German territory’, and the three doors that opened at the ‘Russian’ end of the carriage were locked shut.2 Now, with the shadows lengthening, the comrades began their long journey to the Baltic port of Sassnitz, more than a thousand kilometres to the north.

         
            *

         

         Lenin stood at the carriage window as the train rolled through the German countryside that evening, his thumbs characteristically hooked into his waistcoat. He would not have been able to see a great deal in the fast-fading light – just the firs and beech trees that lined the tracks, and perhaps a few early spring wildflowers. The train had, in fact, hardly got going when it came to a halt in a quiet siding in Singen, just a few kilometres north-east of Gottmadingen. Nestled at the foot of Hohentwiel, an extinct volcano, this little town was home to the giant Maggi plant, whose workforce of several hundred – many of them women – was dedicated to the production, and bottling, of the company’s celebrated liquid condiment.*3 As imposing as the tenth-century border fortress whose ruins topped the mountain, the factory, as the historian Catherine Merridale has explained, ‘stood witness to the epic powers of the capitalist mode of production’.4

         Lenin had little time to take all this in. His attention was almost immediately drawn to the raucous behaviour of the comrades in the neighbouring compartment – whose boisterous singing of the ‘Marseillaise’, and loud, shrieking laughter, proved too much. When muttering loudly to himself and banging on the wall proved futile, Lenin was forced to confront the troublemakers – who, it turned out, were fuelled by bottles of beer that the German officers had passed across the chalk border, along with a large pile of sandwiches for that 34evening’s supper.† Directing his focus away from the politics of world proletarian revolution, if only momentarily, Lenin began to draw up a list of in-train rules. Sleep, during designated hours, was now to be a matter of party discipline; when it came to smoking (a habit that Lenin detested), the solution was simple: it was confined to the toilet. Since that immediately caused a lengthy and uncomfortable queue for those who actually needed to use the facilities, Lenin cut up a sheet of paper and issued two types of ticket: ‘second-class’ passes for the smokers, and ‘first-class’ ones (which guaranteed priority entry) for everyone else.5 

         Early the following morning, Tuesday 10 April (28 March in Russia), the comrades were on the move again, as the train headed up the Neckar Valley, between the Black Forest and the Alps, bound for Frankfurt.‡6 As they contemplated the view from their carriage, the émigrés were struck by the desolate and disturbing scenes that greeted them.7 Krupskaya explained that they all noticed ‘the total absence of grown-up men. Only women, teenagers and children could be seen at the wayside stations, on the fields, and in the streets of the towns.’8 And, as the train slowed down at little towns or crossings, the revolutionaries would see, up close, the pale, emaciated faces of a people worn down by three years of war, and brutal economic blockade.9

         The monotony of the journey was broken later that afternoon when, with the train waiting at Stuttgart station, Fritz Platten was informed that the German trade unionist leader and Social Democrat Wilhelm Janson was requesting a meeting with Lenin.10 Platten dutifully passed on the information, which sparked immediate concern for Karl Radek. As an Austrian citizen he was eligible to serve at the front, but he had 35also enjoyed a fractious pre-war relationship with Germany’s socialists, some of whom had accused him of embezzling party funds. Radek was promptly ‘hidden in the luggage compartment and left with a supply of about fifty newspapers’, so that he ‘would keep quiet and not cause a scandal’.11 The Old Man then carefully considered Janson’s request: tell him, he said, to ‘go to the devil’s grandmother’; if he entered the Russian carriage, thereby violating their extraterritoriality, Lenin continued, then he would ‘smash his nose’ and throw him off the train.12 

         That same evening, now in Frankfurt, the émigrés’ insistence that any communication with the German world that lay beyond their carriage be undertaken via Platten was violated in spectacular fashion. Before disappearing for the night (it was rumoured that he had a girlfriend in the city), their designated interlocuter had, it seemed, popped by the station buffet to order beer and sandwiches, and then tipped a group of soldiers to take them to the occupants of the carriage that had been discreetly parked in a quiet siding.13 Radek explained what happened next. ‘Suddenly the cordon was broken, as German soldiers came rushing up to us.’ ‘They had’, he continued, ‘heard that Russian revolutionaries, who were in favour of peace, were travelling through. Each of them held a jug of beer in both hands. Excitedly they asked us whether and when peace was coming.’14

         The last thing the German authorities wanted was Russian revolutionaries spreading radical ideas or advocating for peace among the military rank and file, so when the train arrived in Berlin the following night, strict measures were put in place to avoid any repeat: there were military guards and barbed-wire barriers, and the formerly freewheeling Platten was informed that he could only leave the carriage if accompanied by a military escort.15 Having missed the Wednesday-afternoon ferry to Sweden (whose government had finally, the previous afternoon, given authorisation for the revolutionaries to transit through the country), the Russians were held in the German capital for some twenty hours. The historical record is deafeningly silent on exactly what the émigrés got up to during this long layover. There is, though, 36no evidence at all to substantiate the rumours that Lenin met secretly with senior figures from the foreign ministry (whose headquarters was just a few minutes’ walk from Potsdam station), or even perhaps the German chancellor, Theobald von Bethmann Hollweg.16

         The following day, Thursday 12 April, the comrades endured a final five hours of confinement in the sealed train, as they trundled slowly through the countryside of Brandenburg and Western Pomerania, before reaching Stralsund, the beautiful old Hanseatic port. There, the carriage was loaded onto a ferry and taken across the Strela Sound to Rügen Island and on to the ferry port at Sassnitz.17 Boarding the steamer the Queen Victoria for the voyage to Trelleborg, now just a few hours away, the émigrés were required to supply their names. Suspicious as ever, Lenin insisted that they use pseudonyms. The crossing itself was decidedly unpleasant: the Baltic Sea was choppy, and only five of the party – among them Lenin, Radek and Zinoviev – turned out to have decent sea legs. This little band stood, for a while at least, around the main mast, engaged in animated debate, while their comrades succumbed to seasickness or sought shelter from the cold in the downstairs saloon. There was one moment of tension when, over the ship’s tannoy, the captain asked repeatedly if there was a ‘Mr Ulyanov’ on board. Lenin, who feared that he was about to be arrested – or worse – allowed himself a quiet chuckle on discovering that Yakov Ganetsky, who had waited in vain at the dockside in Trelleborg the previous night, had simply radioed the ferry to confirm their arrival.18

         Ganetsky had organised an enthusiastic, if small, welcome at the quay: the mayor made a speech, a delegation of local socialists offered their fraternal greetings, and warm words were exchanged. What there was not, though, was a great deal of time: fifteen minutes after disembarking, the émigrés were on the train to Malmö, and a much grander reception at the city’s Savoy Hotel.19 It made for an incongruous sight: thirty or so of Europe’s foremost revolutionaries, shabbily dressed and exhausted from days of travel, gathering amid the art deco splendour of Malmö’s finest hotel, for a traditional Swedish 37smörgåsbord. Back in Switzerland, Radek explained, the émigrés had become ‘accustomed to … no more than a herring for our dinner’. Now, confronted by huge tables weighed down with hors d’oeuvre – including salmon, smoked elk with berries, pickles, caviar, cream cheese and rye bread – the comrades swarmed like grasshoppers, demolishing the lot within minutes, as the appalled waiters looked on. Lenin – no gourmand, even at the best of times – was the only one not to indulge, preferring instead to grill Ganetsky about the latest news from Russia. The political discussions continued aboard the night train to Stockholm, joined by the Swedish socialist and journalist Otto Grimlund, and the lively conversation took in the current state of the Swedish Left as well as Lenin’s own plans for Russia.20

         Finally, as dawn broke on Friday 13 April, the train reached the Swedish capital.

         
            *

         

         As they climbed wearily down onto the platform that grey spring morning, the comrades were met by a melee of journalists, photographers and local dignitaries – including the city’s mayor – before heading to the nearby Hotel Regina. Appalled by the slovenly appearance of Lenin’s group, the staff initially refused to admit the new arrivals, only relenting after it was explained that the rooms had already been paid for. After freshening up, it was time to attend a breakfast that had been laid on by the local welcoming committee. As Radek quipped, ‘Sweden is distinguished from all other countries by the fact that at every opportunity a breakfast is organised; when the social revolution comes in Sweden, the first thing they will do is give a breakfast in honour of the retiring bourgeoisie, and then a breakfast in honour of the new revolutionary regime.’21

         With the next train to the sparsely populated Norrland (the ‘northlands’) not departing until the evening, most of the émigrés took the opportunity for some rest and relaxation. Lenin, in contrast, had a packed schedule: meetings with socialist leaders, some last-minute fundraising to further offset the cost of the trip home, and putting the 38final touches to plans to establish a Bolshevik Party foreign bureau in the city. Although Lenin refused a meeting with Parvus, who was – not coincidentally – in town, he deputed Radek to accept (in secret) the businessman’s offer of massive financial help, much of it funnelled from the foreign ministry in Berlin, for the revolutionary struggle that lay ahead.22 Lenin was eventually prevailed upon to take some time off and visit Stockholm’s famous PUB department store. The goal, according to Radek, was to make him ‘look something like a human being’. The Old Man had, for instance, travelled from Switzerland in hobnail boots. ‘Even if he wanted to ruin the footpaths of the nauseating Swiss bourgeois cities with these boots,’ Radek explained, ‘we told him, his conscience must forbid him to take these tools of destruction to Petrograd, where perhaps there were no pavements left at all.’ As well as some new shoes, they also persuaded him to purchase a pair of trousers, but he resisted all attempts to replace his ill-fitting woollen coat, asking whether, on returning to the Russian capital, he would be expected to ‘open a ready-made clothing shop’.23

         That evening, Lenin and the comrades (sans Radek who, as an Austrian citizen, was certain to be refused entry into Russia) made their way to the city’s Central Station for the 18.37 sleeper service to Bräcke, five hundred kilometres to the north. A crowd of about a hundred had gathered, with the mayor and other socialists joined by dozens of well-wishers, many of them carrying bouquets of flowers. The scenes were witnessed by the Swedish socialist Hugo Sillén, who described how ‘everybody was in a cheerful, elated mood, and Lenin was without doubt the centre of attention.’ ‘He had’, Sillén explained, ‘intelligent, sparkling eyes and made rapid, expressive gestures. The departing comrades were animatedly discussing something on the platform. Then we heard the “Internationale” and little red flags appeared from the carriage.’ As the train began to move, the Swedish comrades ‘set up a wild cheering for the coming revolution in the East and the cheers were enthusiastically echoed by all the departing Russians’.24

         Pulling into Bräcke before dawn, the Russians changed trains for 39the journey to Boden, a little fortress town and key railway junction in Swedish Lapland. This was a journey through some of the country’s most sparsely populated areas, whose snowy forests were home to deer, Arctic hares and the odd fox. Arriving around ten that night, the comrades loaded their bags onto yet another train: this one would convey them to the Swedish–Finnish frontier town of Haparanda, at the head of the Gulf of Bothnia, and the border with revolutionary Russia.§25

         During this final leg of the Swedish journey, Lenin addressed his comrades directly about the possibility that, on arrival in Russia, they might be arrested and charged with treason. He explained that a committee of five, to be led by him, would represent the entire group, emphasising their immigration rights as Russian citizens and attacking the Provisional Government for its failure to help them return home. No one else was to say, or to sign, anything. The stance was clear enough, and it drew on Lenin’s legal training, but it is not clear how much comfort it offered to those who feared that, very soon, they might all be facing the hangman’s noose.26

         Originally a little fishing village, Haparanda’s fortunes had been transformed by the Great War. As the only open land crossing, the town had become a strategic lifeline, offering one of the few ways to ship goods and other materials into the Russian Empire from Europe. In the absence of a railway bridge across the River Torne (which marked the border with the Grand Duchy of Finland), a vast overhead cable system had been erected, with goods loaded into giant buckets and transported across the border twenty-four hours a day. According to one estimate from 1917, in a single six-month period the customs post there processed some twenty-seven million mail items and packets, to say nothing of the bulkier goods that were stacked up as far as the eye could see.27 Although it was now spring, the river was frozen solid (they were, after all, just fifty miles from the Arctic 40Circle), and the only way to reach the Finnish border post at Tornio was by sleigh. At around seven o’clock on the morning of Sunday 15 April, Lenin and the comrades trudged through the deep snow, down to the riverbank, where they were guided onto the waiting sleds. Drawn by ponies, these would carry the travellers across the mile and a half of thick ice.28 Zinoviev recalled the ‘long, narrow row of sleds’, on each of which sat two passengers. As they slowly approached the Finnish customs post, with the red flag of revolution flying from its roof, tensions were running high. Lenin, though, remained ‘outwardly calm’. According to Zinoviev, the Old Man was ‘especially interested’ in what was ‘going on in faraway Petrograd. Over the frozen bay, covered with deep snow, he look[ed] eagerly into the distance, and his eyes seem[ed] to see a thousand and a half kilometres ahead of him the revolutionary country.’29 

         All that now stood between Lenin and his homeland were the British.

         
            *

         

         Back at the end of March, some influential voices within the German General Staff had offered only tepid support for the plan to transport Lenin and his fellow exiles back to Russia. Their reasoning was straightforward enough: given that the Finnish frontier posts had English officials attached to them,¶ it seemed doubtful that they would be minded to allow political activists who were publicly committed to knocking Russia out of the war to cross the border.30 While the Germans ultimately gambled that the British would comply, the outcome was by no means certain. In early April, Alexander Kesküla, an Estonian political refugee living in Sweden, visited Sir Esmé Howard, Britain’s ambassador in Stockholm, to deliver a blunt warning about the dangers of permitting Lenin to enter Russia. Kesküla, who had encountered the Bolshevik revolutionary in Switzerland, described him as a fanatic whose organisational abilities 41might well enable him to build a large popular following. Kesküla’s solution was ingenious: Lenin should be detained at the Swedish frontier on the grounds that he had just travelled through a country in the grip of a smallpox outbreak. This would, he believed, turn Lenin into a laughing stock. The ambassador was tempted but, in the end, informed London that he ‘did not think it advisable to put it forward’.31 In Moscow, meanwhile, Sir George Buchanan’s concerns about permitting Lenin to return home were waved away. The very fact that the comrades had travelled home via Germany would, it was claimed, be enough to discredit them permanently.32 

         The Russian soldiers at the Finnish guard post that Sunday morning seemed friendly enough, talking with enthusiasm about the revolution and offering the returnees a loud cheer.33 The British were a different matter. Once the party had filed into the little wooden hut, they were divided into two groups – male and female – and then subjected to what appeared to be a deliberately slow and humiliating interrogation.34 Lenin, for instance, was strip-searched and pressed repeatedly on why he had left Russia, whether he planned to stay in Finland, and on his profession. Again and again Lenin explained that he was a political refugee returning home (he planned to stay at his sister’s apartment in Petrograd), and that he was a journalist.35 The Bolshevik leader did not know it, but just a few days earlier Boris Nikitin, a colonel working in counter-intelligence for the Provisional Government in Petrograd, had – at the behest of the British – attempted to secure ministerial support to prevent the ‘traitors and sedition-mongers’ from crossing the border.36 His efforts had proved unsuccessful, and so it was in some desperation that Harold Gruner, the military intelligence officer on duty at Tornio, cabled the Provisional Government to ask whether some mistake might not have been made in allowing Lenin to return. With what was fast becoming his trademark haughtiness, the justice minister Alexander Kerensky replied that the ‘new Russian government rested on a democratic foundation’ and did not refuse entry to its own citizens.37

         42There was no choice but to let the party through.||

         Lenin, of course, was delighted. Laughing, and embracing his comrades, the Bolshevik leader announced that, now that they were safely on native soil, ‘our trials … have ended.’ Raising a clenched fist into the air in triumph, the Old Man declared: ‘We’ll show them that we are worthy masters of the future.’38 After making some brief remarks about Finnish freedom to the waiting crowds, and popping into the post office to telegram his sister, Mariya, in Petrograd, Lenin and his party boarded the Finnish State Railways train that would take them down the coast and then on to Riihimäki, just north of the capital, Helsingfors (Helsinki), where they would pick up the train to the Russian capital. The provision of a military escort caused some initial anxieties, but before long Lenin was chatting animatedly with the soldiers, arguing good-naturedly about the war and outlining his plans for the new Russia.39 As the train passed by station platforms crowded with soldiers, one of the comrades ‘leaned out and shouted, “Long live the world revolution!”’40

         Lenin’s high spirits, however, were soured by what he was reading in the latest edition of Pravda. For one thing, Lev Kamenev and Stalin were taking far too moderate a line when it came to the Provisional Government; other contributors appeared to be supporting an alliance with the hated Mensheviks; while yet another piece advocated ‘revolutionary defencism’ – continuing the war with Germany in order to defend the revolution at home. Perhaps the most bitter blow was the revelation that Roman Malinovsky, a prominent member of the party, had for years been working hand in glove with the Okhrana. The Old Man exploded: ‘The swine,’ he declared; ‘shooting is too good for him.’41

         A small delegation of Bolsheviks – including Kamenev and Fedor Raskolnikov, a young sailor and party propagandist – had travelled to  43the little border town of Beloostrov that evening,# to formally welcome their leader back to Russian soil.42 Raskolnikov described how, on hearing the bell that signalled the train’s approach, they ventured out onto the platform. There, ‘talking together excitedly beneath a broad red banner’, was a crowd of workers from a nearby armaments factory, who had travelled ten miles on foot to meet the Bolshevik leader. Then, Raskolnikov recalled how ‘the three blindingly bright lights of the locomotive rushed by us, and behind it the lighted windows of the carriages began to twinkle – more and more gently and slowly.’ Disembarking from the train, Lenin was raised aloft by the workers, who carried him into the station hall. ‘There,’ explained Raskolnikov, ‘all those who had come from Petrograd pushed their way through to him, one after the other, to congratulate him heartily on his return to Russia. All of us who were seeing Ilyich for the first time kissed him just as his old Party comrades did, as though we had known him for a long time. He was somehow serenely cheerful and the smile never left his face for a moment. It was clear that the return to his homeland, now embraced by the flame of revolution, gave him indescribable joy.’43 Standing on a stool in the first-class waiting room, wearing his shabby woollen coat and a worker’s cap, the Old Man made a few impromptu remarks. Then, as the bell for the service to the Russian capital rang out, the crowd cheered their farewells.44 

         Petrograd was now just twenty-five miles away.

         
            * According to Torsten Riotte, adjunct professor of modern and contemporary history at the Goethe University of Frankfurt – and a keen Anglophile – it tastes like a combination of Oxo and Marmite.

            † They were also egged on by Karl Radek, who, for reasons that have never been explained, had managed to ensconce himself in a second-class compartment, despite travelling alone.

            ‡ The journey through Germany involved travel on ‘four different state railways, and each time they crossed from one system to another, a new engine would take over’. Moreover, ‘owing to military restrictions on lines to the front, they would at times move out of one state railway for a few miles and then return to it.’ (Michael Pearson, The Sealed Train, 109–10.)

            § Finland, which had been incorporated into the Russian Empire in 1809 as an autonomous Grand Duchy, would gain its independence at the end of the year.

            ¶ British officials were attached to the frontier post as part of an Allied wartime agreement.

            || Gruner would be haunted for years by this incident and was teased mercilessly by his colleagues for having let Lenin into Russia. One of his closest friends later wrote that ‘were he a Japanese he would have committed hara-kiri.’ See William Gerhardie, Memoirs of a Polyglot (London: Robin Clark, 1990), 130.

            # This was 3 April – Orthodox Easter Monday – in Russia (but 16 April by the Gregorian Calendar).
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            4. From the Finland Station

         

         
            Comrades, soldiers, sailors, and workers! I am happy to greet in your persons the victorious Russian revolution, and greet you as the vanguard of the worldwide proletarian army … The Russian revolution … has prepared the way and opened a new epoch. Long live the worldwide Socialist revolution!

            – V. I. LENIN

         

         The Finnish State Railways locomotive, now adorned with red flags and revolutionary bunting, pulled in to Petrograd just before midnight on Monday 3 April. In comparison with the grand railway terminuses that graced Paris, Budapest and other major European cities, the Finland Station was decidedly modest. The American writer Edmund Wilson described the single-storey stucco building – ‘rubber-gray and tarnished pink’ – as being of ‘a size and design which in any more modern country of Europe would be considered appropriate to a provincial town rather than to the splendors of a capital’.1 But what it lacked in architectural grandeur it more than made up for in atmosphere that chilly April night. Despite having had less than a day to prepare for their leader’s arrival, the city’s Bolsheviks had mustered an impressive turnout – many of them attracted by the prospect of free beer. Nikolai Sukhanov – the thirty-five-year-old writer, Menshevik and founding member of the executive committee of the Petrograd Soviet – was on hand to view the spectacle.2 A great throng of workers, sailors and soldiers blocked the square in front of the station, ‘making movement almost impossible and scarcely letting the trams through’, orchestras were playing revolutionary hymns, and there were countless red flags, dominated by a splendid, gold-embroidered banner bearing the words ‘The Central Committee of the RSDLP (Bolsheviks)’. Amid the darkness, one could make out ‘in two or three places the awe-inspiring outlines of armoured cars thrust up from the 45crowd’. Meanwhile, from one of the nearby side streets ‘there moved out on to the square … a strange monster – a mounted searchlight, which abruptly projected onto the bottomless void of the darkness tremendous strips of the living city, the roofs, many-storeyed houses, columns, wires, tramways, and human figures.’3 The atmosphere on the platform was even more impressive than on the square:

         
            Its whole length was lined with people, mostly soldiers ready to ‘present A-a-a-r-m-s!’ Banners hung across the platform at every step; triumphal arches had been set up, adorned with red and gold; one’s eyes were dazzled by every possible welcoming inscription and revolutionary slogan, while at the end of the platform, where the carriage was expected to stop, there was a band, and a group of representatives of the central Bolshevik organizations stood holding flowers.4

         

         Finally, an hour later than scheduled, Lenin’s train pulled up. As it did so, a military band struck up the ‘Marseillaise’ (they had not yet had time to learn Lenin’s preferred anthem, the ‘Internationale’), and the crowd roared their welcome. As he stepped from the carriage – momentarily flustered by the unexpected reception (he had, up until the last, been fretting about arrest) – the Old Man was presented with a bouquet of flowers before being ushered along the platform towards the former Imperial Waiting Room. Within minutes Alexander Shlyapnikov, one of Petrograd’s leading Bolsheviks and the self-appointed master of ceremonies that evening, ‘appeared in the doorway, portentously hurrying, with the air of a faithful old police chief announcing the Governor’s arrival’. Behind Shlyapnikov, at the head of a small delegation of Bolsheviks, was Lenin, who more or less sprinted into the room. Wearing his worker’s cap, his face frozen and bouquet in hand, the revolutionary came to a sudden halt in front of Nikolai Chkheidze – the Menshevik lawyer and chairman of the Petrograd Soviet. It was, Sukhanov later wrote, as though Lenin had 46collided with ‘a completely unexpected obstacle’. In a short speech (one that sounded more like a sermon), a glum-looking Chkheidze welcomed Lenin back to Russia on behalf of the Petrograd Soviet and issued an appeal for unity. Lenin, of course, had absolutely no intention of throwing his lot in with the Mensheviks, let alone offering support to the Provisional Government. Having stood expressionless, with the occasional glance up at the ceiling, during Chkheidze’s remarks, Lenin now turned his back on his socialist rival to acknowledge the small crowd that had gathered in the waiting room.5

         
            
[image: ]Lenin whips up the crowd from the back of a military vehicle in Petrograd, 1917.

            

         

         As the formal part of the welcome came to an end, Lenin made his way to the increasingly boisterous crowds in the square. As Shlyapnikov began to clear a path, the ‘Marseillaise’ rang out once more and, with the crowd roaring its approval, Lenin was raised aloft, before clambering onto the turret of an armoured car to speak. ‘Preceded by the searchlight and accompanied by the band, flags, workers’ detachments, army units, and an enormous crowd’, the vehicle then made its way west across the Sampson Bridge, heading for the city 47centre. Sukhanov noted how, at virtually every intersection, Lenin would give a short speech – about peace, class struggle and worldwide revolution – to ‘continually changing audiences’. ‘The triumph’, he wrote, ‘had come off brilliantly.’6

         
            *

         

         Lenin’s destination that night was a grand mansion on Kronverksky Prospect, close to the Peter and Paul Fortress, just a few doors down from the city’s ornate new mosque. Built between 1904 and 1906 for the celebrated ballerina Matilda Kshesinskaya (a former mistress to three grand dukes, including the future Nicholas II), the house – with its two enfilades of reception rooms and splendid winter garden – had regularly hosted members of the city’s cultural elite. The February Revolution had changed all that. Within days, Kshesinskaya and her teenage son had fled, and her beloved home had been commandeered by the Bolsheviks.* The beautiful art nouveau building was now bedecked with scarlet banners while, inside, almost all the furniture – aside from a grand piano – had been removed. The ballerina’s silk-lined boudoir stank of onions and tobacco, and the marble Roman bath was full of cigarette butts, papers and used rags.7

         In the upstairs dining room, tea and snacks had been laid out, and soon the comrades were tucking into the buffet. But Lenin, typically, was not there. Instead, he was out on the balcony, making yet another speech. The reaction of the crowd was largely positive, but towards the end the mood soured a little. When Lenin, by now rather hoarse, declared that ‘the defence of the fatherland means the defence of one set of capitalists against another’, a soldier shouted out, ‘Ought to stick our bayonets into a fellow like that … If he came down here,’ he continued, ‘we’d have to show him!’8 Rather than going out onto the street, Lenin retired to the downstairs reception room, where some two hundred activists, professional revolutionaries and Bolshevik Party leaders were waiting. The Old Man sat through a succession of 48rather dull and formulaic welcome speeches, smiling patiently. Then he rose to his feet, to deliver his extraordinary reply. 

         Sukhanov, who had been smuggled into the mansion by Lev Kamenev, later wrote:

         
            I shall never forget that thunder-like speech, which startled and amazed not only me, a heretic who had accidentally dropped in, but all the true believers. I am certain that no one had expected anything of the sort. It seemed as though all the elements had risen from their abodes, and the spirit of universal destruction, knowing neither barriers nor doubts, neither human difficulties nor human calculations, was hovering around Kshesinskaya’s reception-room above the heads of the bewitched disciples.9

         

         Standing in front of the grand marble fireplace, with its gilded supports, the Old Man harangued the comrades for two hours with such relentless ferocity that, as Sukhanov put it, ‘I felt as though I had been beaten about the head that night with flails.’10 Lenin again reiterated that the ‘imperialist war’ could only be resolved by a civil war and a worldwide socialist revolution, and he denounced the Petrograd Soviet for its support for ‘revolutionary defencism’. This, he declared, was tantamount to a ‘betrayal of socialism’. Lenin was dismissive of the Provisional Government, which was, he claimed, led by bourgeois imperialists, and also opposed coalition with other socialist parties, with the Mensheviks drawing particular ire for having supported the continuation of the war.11 These positions made for uncomfortable listening for many of the comrades, who had only recently endorsed the policy of ‘vigilant control’ over the Provisional Government, opposed any ‘disorganising activities’ among troops at the front and agreed to hold unity talks with the Mensheviks that were due to start the next day.12 But by far the biggest bombshell was Lenin’s insistence that ‘we don’t need a parliamentary republic, we don’t need bourgeois democracy, we don’t need any Government except the Soviet of 49Workers’, Soldiers’ and Farm-labourers’ deputies!’13 As Raskolnikov explained, ‘The ultimate triumph of Soviet power, which many saw as something in the hazy distance of a more or less indefinite future, was brought down by Comrade Lenin to the plane of an urgently necessary conquest of the revolution, to be attained within a very short time.’ It was this that made the speech ‘in the fullest sense historic’.14

         When he finished, Lenin was met with lengthy, rapturous applause. But, in a telling observation, Sukhanov noted that many of the comrades ‘seemed to stare strangely in front of them; or else their eyes roved about unseeingly, showing complete confusion’.15 It fell to Kamenev (on record as supporting a united front with other socialist parties) to make a formal reply. ‘We may or may not agree with Comrade Lenin’s views, we may differ from him in our evaluation of one proposition or another,’ he said, but ‘in any case, there has returned to Russia in the person of Comrade Lenin the brilliant and acknowledged leader of our Party and we shall go forward together with him, towards socialism.’16 Despite the unifying words, the leader was – for now at least – politically isolated; even his wife, Nadezhda, told a friend, ‘I am afraid it looks as if Lenin has gone crazy.’17

         
            *

         

         Over the next few days Lenin doubled down, reiterating his ideas before the Bolshevik Party’s Central Committee, the Petrograd Soviet and in the pages of Pravda, which on 7 April published ‘The April Theses’. Lenin had been working furiously on this famous (and uncharacteristically short) treatise throughout his long journey from Zurich, scribbling down his ideas and making continual edits from a makeshift desk in his compartment.18 The final result, according to his biographer Robert Service, was a text whose significance is comparable to Constantine’s Edict of Milan of ad 313 (which afforded Christianity legal status throughout the Roman Empire) or Martin Luther’s Ninety-Five Theses of 1517 (which sparked the Protestant Reformation).19 Having spent many hours on the train crafting what was the equivalent of a political hand grenade, Lenin was now ready to pull the pin.20 Stating at the 50outset that the document was a summary of his ‘personal’ views, Lenin emphasised that the ‘capitalist nature’ of the Provisional Government meant that the current war ‘unquestionably remains on Russia’s part a predatory imperialist war’. No concessions to ‘revolutionary defencism’, therefore, were permissible. Acknowledging the ‘undoubted honesty of those broad sections of the mass believers … who accept the war only as a necessity, and not as a means of conquest’, Lenin held that it was the job of the party ‘with particular thoroughness, persistence and patience to explain their error to them, to explain the inseparable connection existing between capital and the imperialist war, and to prove that without overthrowing capital it is impossible to end the war by a truly democratic peace, a peace not imposed by violence’. Lenin’s second thesis held that the ‘specific feature of the present situation in Russia is that the country is passing from the first stage of the revolution – which, owing to the insufficient class-consciousness and organisation of the proletariat, placed power in the hands of the bourgeoisie – to its second stage, which must place power in the hands of the proletariat and the poorest sections of the peasants’. This meant abandoning the system of ‘dual power’ (which saw the Provisional Government and the Petrograd Soviet vying for control and influence) and placing full authority in the hands of the soviets, or workers’ councils, that had been formed in the wake of the February Revolution. Given this, Lenin was categoric in ruling out any support for the administration of Prince Lvov: ‘The utter falsity of all its promises’, he wrote, ‘should be made clear.’ The Old Man was, of course, no fool – he well understood that the Bolsheviks were currently in a minority (and a small minority at that) in most of the soviets that had sprung up across the country, including the most important one in the capital. The task, then, was to ‘carry on the work of criticising and exposing errors’ as well as preaching the ‘necessity of transferring the entire state power to the Soviets’. ‘The masses’, wrote Lenin, ‘must be made to see that the Soviets of Workers’ Deputies are the only possible form of revolutionary government.’ The rest of the document sketched out a rough schema 51for a future revolutionary government: the creation of ‘a republic of Soviets of Workers’, Agricultural Labourers’ and Peasants’ Deputies’; the abolition of the police and army; the confiscation of landed estates and the nationalisation of all land; and the ‘union of all banks … into a single national bank’.21

         In the immediate aftermath of the February Revolution most of the Bolshevik leadership in Russia had, in common with the other socialist parties, adopted the orthodox Marxist position. This, in the words of historian Marcel Liebman, held that, with Tsarism ‘in ruins, economic, social and political power ought as a matter of course to pass to the bourgeoisie, whose reign would constitute the necessary prelude to socialism’.22 The main task, as leaders like Kamenev and Stalin saw it, was to ensure that the gains of the February Revolution were consolidated and extended. Although a left faction took a more radical stance, the national Bolshevik Party conference, held at the end of March, had endorsed Stalin’s view that they should give ‘support to the Provisional Government in so far as it is consolidating the steps forward taken by the revolution, while regarding as inadmissible any support … in so far as it acts in a counter-revolutionary way’.23 Virtually the entire leadership of the party, moreover, held that the second – socialist – stage of revolution would only be possible once capitalism in Russia (and the accompanying class consciousness of the proletariat) had developed to an advanced stage. As Pravda had put it on 7 March, ‘There is no question among us of the downfall of capital, but only the downfall of the rule of autocracy and feudalism.’24

         There is a lively debate among historians about just how new Lenin’s ideas actually were.25 The Bolshevik leader had a history of ideological experimentation, and had expressed doubts about the ‘two-stage’ theory of revolution before.26 What does seem clear, though, is that in April 1917 Lenin’s insistence that the first stage of the revolution had come to an end caused shock and consternation, unleashing a torrent of criticism from both friend and foe. Derision from his rival socialists was to be expected – one leading Menshevik, for instance, 52dismissed Lenin’s views as ‘claptrap’, the ‘ravings of a madman’.27 Kerensky, meanwhile, thought that Lenin was ‘living in a completely isolated atmosphere, he knows nothing and sees everything through the lens of his own fantasies’.28 But more worryingly, even many in his own party remained unconvinced. Pavel Lebedev-Polianskii, a Bolshevik who hailed from Lenin’s home region, told the Old Man to his face that, during his long years of exile, he had perhaps become detached from the realities of life in Russia.29 Writing in the pages of Pravda, Kamenev explained that Lenin’s ‘general schema … seems to us unacceptable, in so far as it proceeds from the assumption that the bourgeois democratic revolution is finished and counts on the immediate conversion of that revolution into a socialist revolution’.30

         Lenin’s motivations for taking such an uncompromising stance in the spring of 1917 remain something of a mystery. (The Old Man remained frustratingly silent on the subject.) He had, clearly, been radicalised by the Great War, and had consistently opposed anyone who failed to take what he considered a sufficiently strong line against the ‘imperialist’ conflict.31 He also seems to have sensed that the global conflagration had created the conditions for a wider collapse of the capitalist order and believed that a workers’ revolution in Russia might spark a series of proletarian uprisings across Europe. In his magisterial biography, Robert Service raises the possibility that, like any good politician, Lenin was marking out ‘an easily identifiable spot on the political spectrum; and, as an inveterate adherent of far-left socialist ideas, he felt himself at his most comfortable when criticising other socialist parties and groups for their insufficiency of radicalism’.32

         Whatever the reason, over the coming weeks – helped by the force of his own conviction, the return of additional Bolshevik exiles (typically more radical than those who had remained in Russia) and the Provisional Government’s declining popularity amid deepening economic and military crises – Lenin would gradually win over his internal critics and begin to build a wider base of support, particularly among younger factory workers, soldiers and sailors.33 For now, 53though, he appeared to be something of a has-been. Writing to London on 9 April, the British ambassador, Sir George Buchanan, explained that Lenin’s speeches had been ‘exceedingly badly received’ and, ‘for the moment, this gentleman, whose arrival gave rise to the liveliest apprehensions in all moderate circles, seems to have lost all influence.’34 Not everyone was quite so sanguine. Writing to his wife from Petrograd a few days later, the American cinematographer and celebrated war photographer Donald C. Thompson noted how Lenin was ‘preaching to the soldiers daily not to fight any more and tells them that they are being sacrificed by the capitalists’. The Bolshevik leader was, he explained, ‘a brilliant man’ who constituted a genuine threat. By far the ‘best thing for Russia to do’, Thompson believed, would be ‘to kill’ Lenin. But, at the very least, they should ‘arrest him and put him in prison’. If they failed to act, Thompson continued, ‘I expect to write you a letter, some day, that this cur is in control of things here. Every day he is gaining strength and getting the support of the lowest element in Petrograd.’35

         Thompson was spot on.36 54

         
            * Local rumour had it that Kshesinskaya had been targeted because she had been gifted a large store of boiler coal by one of her dukes.
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            John Reed

         

         
            
[image: ]While living in New York’s Greenwich Village, John Reed embraced the neighbourhood’s bohemian culture. ‘Within a block of my house’, he explained, ‘was all the adventure in the world.’56
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            5. Across the War World

         

         
            Events grand and terrible are brewing in Europe, such as only the imagination of a revolutionary poet could have conceived.

            – JOHN REED

         

         When the news of the February Revolution first broke, the radical American journalist John Reed had instinctively dismissed the whole business as a bourgeois affair whose ‘prime movers and dominating figures’ were ‘liberal-minded nobles, business men, professors, editors and army officers’. Neither a peasant uprising nor a revolt against militarism, the revolution’s purpose, at least as Reed saw it, was to unify Russia behind the war effort, and to establish a Western European-style liberal, constitutional democracy.1 But by the summer, as it became clearer that the Councils of Workers’ and Soldiers’ Deputies – or soviets – constituted a major, alternative source of power in the country, Reed’s thinking began to shift.2 In a piece co-written with his wife, Louise Bryant, for the left-wing magazine The Masses, published that July, the couple offered a bracing reinterpretation of the situation. The soviets, which represented ‘the real revolutionary heart of the new Russia’, were, they claimed, growing ‘stronger hourly as the power of the awakened proletariat bursts up through the veneer of capitalism’. Offering their ‘apologies to the Russian proletariat for speaking of … a “bourgeois revolution”’, Reed and Bryant now acknowledged that the real story was the ‘long-thwarted rise of the Russian masses’. The unfolding drama was captivating:

         
            The cumbersome medieval tyranny that ruled Russia has vanished like smoke before the wind. The bright framework of the complicated modern capitalistic tyranny that rules us all is crumbling from the face of Russia. And from the laden sea of dumb and driven conscripts, the rivers of workers bent with 58hideous fatigue, the nations of mujiks [peasants] mud-colored and voiceless, something is taking shape – something grand, and simple, and human.

         

         Little wonder that Reed was desperate to see what was happening with his own eyes.3

         When Louise arrived back in New York in early August, following a two-month trip to France to report on the war for the New York American, her husband was waiting for her at the dockside in a state of high excitement. Dressed in a smart silk suit and wearing a panama hat, he rushed up to her. ‘You got home just in time,’ he declared; ‘in four days we’re going to Russia.’4

         
            *

         

         Born in Portland, Oregon, on 22 October 1887, John Silas Reed was raised in the mansion that had been built in the hills to the west of the city by his maternal grandfather, Henry Green – an industrial pioneer who had made his fortune in the fur trade and city utilities – and then in a substantial property in the exclusive West End neighbourhood.5 Although Reed’s father, Charles Jerome, was rather less successful – working for an agricultural implement company, and then as an insurance salesman – he moved in high social circles, and worked hard to ensure that his two sons, John (‘Jack’) and Harry, enjoyed the finest education that money could buy: Portland Academy, prep school in Morristown, New Jersey, and finally Harvard.6

         Reed was, at best, an indifferent student. In fact, he failed the Harvard entrance exams the first time around before being permitted a second go.7 From an early age, though, Reed had demonstrated literary flair. As a child, he regaled (and terrified) his friends with stories about ‘Hormuz’, a monster who ‘lived in the woods behind the town and devoured little children’. He was enthralled by the tales of his uncle, Horatio ‘Ray’ Reed, a ‘romantic figure who played at coffee-planting in Central America, mixed in revolutions, and sometimes blew in, tanned and bearded and speaking “spigotty” [broken English] like 59a mestizo’. Encouraged by his mother, Reed also developed a love of reading; aged nine, he determined to become a writer.8

         Always something of an outsider at Harvard, Reed threw himself into sporting activities (he enjoyed some success in swimming and water polo) and sought, unsuccessfully, to secure coveted memberships in the more prestigious social clubs. He enjoyed far greater success when it came to writing. The Lampoon, a bimonthly humour magazine, was taking his doggerel and jokes within months of his arrival in Harvard Yard. At the end of his freshman year, Reed had two pieces published in the more highbrow Harvard Monthly. Soon he was an established part of Harvard’s literary scene, mixing with a wider group of writers and editors.9 But alongside his artistic pursuits, sporting achievements and love of a good time (beer halls, dances and weekend expeditions to Nantucket loomed large), Reed was increasingly drawn to the world of radical politics.10

         For millions of ordinary Americans, capitalism – at least as it operated in the early twentieth century – seemed less a blessing than a curse. During the Gilded Age, the so-called ‘robber barons’ – notably Andrew Carnegie, J. P. Morgan and John D. Rockefeller – accumulated great wealth and political power by establishing monopolies in key industries (steel, railroads, oil, finance) and bearing down on any sign of organised discontent among their workers. At the same time, millions of Americans – many of them immigrants from Southern and Eastern Europe – were forced to live in unsanitary conditions in the nation’s overcrowded, crime-ridden cities. Little wonder, then, that the decade or so before the Great War was the golden age of American socialism.11

         Under its charismatic leader, Eugene V. Debs, the Socialist Party certainly appeared to be a rising force (Debs polled 6 per cent of the vote in the 1912 presidential election), while the Industrial Workers of the World (IWW, or ‘Wobblies’), founded in Chicago in 1905, provided the cutting edge of a new labour militancy. The IWW was committed to industrial unionism (organising all the workers in a given industry, rather than those of a particular skill or rank) and 60was fiercely democratic (uniquely, they welcomed women, African Americans and Asian Americans as members). Organised around the principle of working-class solidarity, their ultimate goal was the overthrow of capitalism. In the meantime they sought to build ‘the new society within the shell of the old’.12
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